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Our vision is to maintain Flemington 
as a world leader in thoroughbred racing, 
event management and entertainment. 

Through our people we will: 

Continually develop as a world class 
racing and entertainment venue all 
year round. 
Focus on the continued growth and 
success of the Melbourne Cup Carnival. 
Provide the highest quality service, 
facilities and value for our Members, 
customers, partners and the community.
Balance our commitment to 
environmental sustainability and the 
local community with our operations. 
Maximise financial returns from our 
racing and events for the benefit of the 
Club, its Members, the racing industry 
and partners. 

Integrity Acting with integrity 
in all that we do. 
Innovation Encouraging and 
embracing innovation to achieve 
continuous improvement. 
Excellence Setting the highest standards 
in service and value for our Members, 
customers and business partners. 
Collaboration Valuing and respecting the 
commitment and contribution of all of 
our people and expecting collaboration 
across our teams. 
Safety and Sustainability Providing a safe 
and environmentally friendly workplace 
and venue for people, customers and 
industry participants.
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Every so often, a sporting story will capture the 
imagination of the public; a tale that captivates 

attention and fascinates all that hear it. It creates 
legends and inspires folklore for years to come. 

Black Caviar is one such story. 

black caviar
22 starts, 22 wins
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Group 1 Coolmore Lightning Stakes 2012
Flemington, VIC, 1000m WFA

Group 1 Patinack Farm Classic 2011
Flemington, VIC, 1200m WFA

Group 1 Lexus Newmarket Hcp 2011
Flemington, VIC, 1200m Hcp

Group 1 Coolmore Lightning Stakes 2011
Flemington, VIC, 1000m WFA

Group 1 Patinack Farm Classic 2010
Flemington, VIC, 1200m WFA

Group 2 Danehill Stakes 2009
Flemington, VIC, 1200m 3YO SWP

Cromwell Handicap 2009
Flemington, VIC, 1000m 2YO Hcp

Black Caviar at Flemington
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Michael S Burn 

Chairman

Dale G Monteith

Chief Executive

and
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2011/12 Overview
The 2011/12 year was a significant one 

for the VRC, as much work was undertaken 

with the planning and implementation 

of various initiatives that are expected 

to be critically important to the Club 

across the next decade. In addition, 

the year saw the finalisation of the 

new wagering licensing arrangements 

in Victoria, which are vital to the funding 

of our Club and the entire racing industry 

in Victoria.

A satisfactory net surplus of $2.4 million 

was achieved in 2011/12, up from 

$2.2 million the previous year, off 

a revenue base that was 1.9% lower than 

the prior year. The reduction in revenue 

was primarily due to the impact of 

weather on the Melbourne Cup Carnival 

and the need to conduct the important 

Melbourne Cup Carnival Preview Day 

racemeeting early on a Sunday to avoid 

a clash with the AFL Grand Final and 

the Royal Melbourne Show. Poorer than 

expected results for the outdoor events 

business also impacted the level 

of revenue achieved for the year.

At year end, the Club’s net borrowings 

stood at $7.1 million, down from 

$10.6 million in 2010.

2011 Melbourne Cup Carnival
For the second successive year the 

Melbourne Cup Carnival was affected 

by inclement weather, and poor forecasts 

before the event, which significantly 

impacted general admission ticket 

sales. However, Member and corporate 

involvement was strong.

The 151st running of the Emirates 

Melbourne Cup once again saw the 

eyes of Australia and the racing world 

focus on Flemington. The final field 

of 23 included 11 internationally trained 

stayers, the highest number on record.

The final result saw the French trained, 

Qatar owned and French ridden, Dunaden 

saluting by the closest margin ever in 

the history of our race, from Red Cadeaux, 

UK trained and Hong Kong owned. It was 

a wonderful result, which encapsulated 

where the Emirates Melbourne Cup is 

now positioned on the world racing scene.

For the second year running, the 

Emirates Melbourne Cup was rated the 

world’s leading staying race. The Club 

is determined that this standing be 

protected, and each year reviews the 

conditions of the race to assist in achieving 

this. There is no doubt that prizemoney 

on offer of $6 million is a strong incentive, 

which attracts international participation 

in our great race.

The Emirates Melbourne Cup Day crowd 

of 105,979 was particularly pleasing, and 

the nearly 93,000 that attended AAMI 

Victoria Derby Day was commendable 

given the poor weather forecasts ahead 

of the day.

While we have come to expect it, the 

Flemington course proper performed 

admirably under adverse weather 

conditions. In excess of 500 horses 

competed in the 37 races during 

the Carnival. Few grass tracks in the 

world could have coped with such 

intensive use and have produced 

near track record results as occurred 

on Emirates Stakes Day.

A particular feature of the Carnival in 2011 

was the performance of Black Caviar 

in The Patinack Farm Classic. She won 

the race for the second successive year, 

stretching her unbeaten record to 16 

consecutive victories. The crowd, in excess 

of 85,000, was the largest crowd on record 

for Emirates Stakes Day.

Prizemoney and racing
During 2011/12, the Club distributed 

$36.2 million in prizemoney. Of this figure, 

approximately $27.8 million was provided 

by industry distribution payments from 

Racing Victoria. 

Importantly, the Club provided in 

excess of $8 million from its own 

resources to ‘top-up’ total prizemoney 

paid at Flemington in 2011/12.

This ‘top-up’ by the VRC was greater than 

the total of ‘top-ups’ provided by all other 

Victorian race clubs combined during the 

2011/12 season. The VRC’s ability to provide 

such prizemoney is very much dependent 

upon the ongoing and strong support 

of our Members, corporate partners, 

sponsors and the overall success of the 

Melbourne Cup Carnival each year.

In the near term, the Club will continue 

to balance the desire to grow prizemoney 

levels while prudently managing the 

Club’s funding needs associated with 

various vital strategic initiatives. 

Improvements at Flemington
During the year under review, the Board 

approved major renovations to the first 

floor of the Hill Grandstand, at a cost in 

excess of $1 million. These improvements 

are designed to upgrade the offer to the 

public on racedays and to more closely 

align the standard of our public facilities 

with the Flemington brand.

These works were completed prior to 

the 2012 Melbourne Cup Carnival in time 

for Melbourne Cup Carnival Preview Day. 

Further significant improvements are 

planned for the Hill Grandstand.

In addition, towards the end of 2011/12 

a major renovation of the Flemington 

Tabaret was undertaken, broadly 

coinciding with commencement 

of the new Victorian Gaming licensing 

arrangements. Already we have seen 

a healthy uplift in patronage for the 

venue, which has been renamed 

Headquarters Tavern.

Membership
Membership of the VRC continues 

to play a key role in differentiating our 

Club from all other race clubs in Australia. 

Our current Membership across all 

categories is approaching 30,000, which 

the Club understands to be the largest 

race club membership in the world. 

The Board recognises that quality service 

and regular communication with 

Members is of paramount importance 

in maintaining a strong membership. 

Annual retention rates in excess of 

95% each year suggest that the Club 

is meeting the expectations of the 

significant majority of Members.

Prior to the commencement of the 

2012/13 season, the Club launched 

a ‘Member get Member’ campaign. 

This saw the Club offer full Members, 

who had purchased an annual guest 

card in each of the previous five years 

the opportunity to propose one person, 

family or friend, to be elected to full 

Membership in 2012/13.

The response to this offer exceeded 

expectations and more than 1,300 

new full Members have been elected 

for the 2012/13 Racing Season as a result 

of this initiative. 

Media rights
At the time of writing, the VRC was 

working co-operatively with the other 

ThoroughVisioN (TVN) shareholders, 

the Melbourne Racing Club, the Moonee 

Valley Racing Club, Country Racing Victoria 

and the Australian Turf Club, as well 

as the principal racing bodies Racing 

Victoria Limited and Racing New South 

Wales Limited, on agreements to further 

aggregate the control and management 

of New South Wales and Victorian racing 

media rights into TVN.

This aggregation strategy is expected 

to deliver significant benefits to both 

states’ thoroughbred racing industries, 

including maximising the value of each 

club’s media rights while at the same 

time achieving greater control of how 

thoroughbred racing is showcased as 

an entertainment and wagering product. 
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Chairman’s and 
Chief Executive’s report 
continued Cost review

Subsequent to the 2011 Melbourne 

Cup Carnival, the Club undertook a 

comprehensive review of its cost base. 

The past decade has witnessed 

unparalleled growth in revenue 

streams from the Melbourne Cup 

Carnival. During that time, the Club’s 

cost base supporting this growth has 

also increased significantly. A key objective 

of the cost review was to identify those 

elements of the Club’s cost base that 

are fundamental to the professional 

conduct of the Carnival and the provision 

of outstanding service to Members 

and other patrons, relative to costs 

that are more discretionary in nature. 

Arising from the review, annualised cost 

savings and new revenue opportunities 

of approximately $5.4 million per 

annum have been identified, which, 

among other things, will assist in 

funding important growth initiatives. 

Additional improvements over and 

above those already identified are 

also expected in the medium term.

Project Efficient
During 2011/12, significant work was 

undertaken developing a long-term 

strategy to upgrade the VRC’s business 

information systems. This strategy will 

emphasise a ‘customer first focus’ along 

with improved financial reporting.

Allied to this, the Club is also embarking 

on a program to be implemented over 

three years, which will include: the rollout 

of hi-density Wi-Fi throughout Flemington; 

an extensive new point of sale system; 

an event management system; financial 

control system; human resources 

information system; as well as fibre-optic 

cabling to service all of the new systems.

High Court decision 
on race fields legislation
Towards the end of 2011, the Australian 

Racing Industry was pleased to learn that 

the High Court of Australia had upheld 

the right of Racing New South Wales 

to charge fees to interstate wagering 

operators under New South Wales 

race fields legislation.

All states and territories in Australia have 

similar legislation, therefore this outcome 

was critical to being able to continue 

to charge fees to those entities that 

operate wagering services on racing.

It was also pleasing that shortly after 

this decision, Racing Victoria decided 

to align with Racing New South Wales 

in the charging of race fields fees based 

on wagering turnover. Previously, Racing 

Victoria had adopted a gross revenue 

charging model.

Importantly, all wagering operators 

based outside of Victoria – TABs, corporate 

bookmakers and betting exchanges alike 

– must now pay an appropriate fee for 

the right to operate wagering services 

on Victorian racing. 

New Racing Victoria Club 
funding arrangements
During the year, Racing Victoria worked 

co-operatively with the clubs on a new 

club funding model to apply from the 

start of the new Tabcorp wagering joint 

venture in August 2012.

Importantly, Racing Victoria decided 

to mirror the ‘no worse off’ provision 

of the new wagering licence within 

the new club funding arrangements. 

This is a very important undertaking 

in terms of assisting clubs such 

as the VRC in their planning.

In future, distributions to all clubs 

will largely be based on Racing Victoria 

funding minimum prizemoney levels at 

predetermined industry wide standards. 

This will range from funding for country 

maidens right through to the Emirates 

Melbourne Cup.

The new arrangements will also recognise 

the clubs’ right to receive oncourse 

wagering revenue, as well as a component 

of race fields fees derived by Racing 

Victoria on behalf of Victorian racing. 

Racing Victoria will also be responsible 

for funding industry responsibilities, 

such as agreed operating costs associated 

with training at Flemington, as well as 

capital improvements related to training.

Separately, Racing Victoria agreed 

that it should be responsible for the 

thoroughbred costs associated with 

Radio Sport National. Racing Victoria 

is to be applauded for the positive 

manner with which it engaged its 

shareholder clubs during this process.

Sponsorship review
During the year, the Club undertook 

a detailed review of its extensive 

sponsorship portfolio.

Arising from the review, a number 

of key findings were identified, including 

benefits that could be achieved through 

a more streamlined sponsorship portfolio. 

A significant number of our corporate 

partners extended their sponsorship 

agreements with the Club during 2012, 

including G.H. Mumm, Crown, Treasury 

Wines, Swisse, James Boags and Longines.
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Water strategy
2011/12 saw a key milestone achieved 

in relation to our water strategy. 

This followed many years of planning 

to achieve the most economic and 

practical way to future-proof Flemington 

with respect to its water needs.

After the 2011 Melbourne Cup Carnival 

and with the support of the Victorian 

Government, the Club announced 

the installation of six additional in situ 

desalination water bores at Flemington. 

These water bores will produce in excess 

of 150 megalitres of fresh water per year 

for use on Flemington’s racing and 

training tracks, grounds and gardens. 

The cost of the project will be in excess 

of $1.8 million, with the State Government 

contributing $900,000 and City West 

Water an additional $300,000 towards 

the strategy.

Importantly, the cost of producing this 

water, using world leading technology 

developed by Australian company 

Desalin8 at Flemington, will be less 

than $1 per 1,000 litres, or a third of 

the current cost of buying town water.

Flemington functions and events
Following a review of the operation, 

costs and returns associated with 

functions and events at Flemington, 

it was determined to separate the two 

offerings. The promotion and sales 

of functions within the Flemington 

grandstands was awarded to the Club’s 

principal caterer, Peter Rowland Catering, 

which is well resourced and skilled in this 

area. In turn, it was decided that the Club 

would focus on the high-yield business 

associated with non-raceday events 

at Flemington, such as music festivals.

The Club is clearly seeing improvements 

arising from the changes made, 

including a number of new events 

already confirmed for Flemington 

in 2012 and 2013. These are likely to 

significantly enhance the financial 

returns to the VRC for the use of 

Flemington on non-racedays.

Masterplan
Much good work was undertaken during 

the year to further progress the next 

stage of the development of Flemington 

Masterplan 2025.

The Club recently received advice that 

the Minister for Planning, The Hon 

Matthew Guy MP, had resolved that 

he should be the responsible minister 

for all planning matters pertaining 

to the development of The Hill precinct 

land owned by the Club. This move was 

supported by the Club as it removes 

the significant uncertainty with dealing 

with multiple authorities that would 

otherwise have carriage over various 

components of land owned by the Club.

Bates Smart Architects have been 

appointed to commence work on 

planning for the replacement of the 

Members’ Old Grandstand. This process 

will include seeking the input of 

Members through focus group meetings 

to identify a vision for this development, 

which will underpin the Club’s plans for 

the future for Members at Flemington. 

Based on the best available advice, which 

includes advice from three independent 

engineering firms, it is planned to 

commence replacement of the Members’ 

Old Grandstand immediately following 

the 2015 Melbourne Cup Carnival. It is 

anticipated that the likely build schedule 

will result in the 2016 Melbourne Cup 

Carnival being impacted by reduced 

facilities. A new Members’ Stand, to be 

known as the Club Stand, is expected 

to be completed in time for the 2017 

Melbourne Cup Carnival.

Our people
Rod Fitzroy retired from the Board 

in December 2011 having served on 

the VRC Committee since 1993. He was 

Vice Chairman from 1998–2003 and 

Chairman from 2003–2011.

Rod’s time at the VRC was marked by 

the most significant period of sustained 

growth in the Club’s history, which 

was very closely aligned with the 

internationalisation of the Melbourne 

Cup. He was passionate about 

Flemington, the history of the 

Club and our signature event.

Following Rod’s retirement as a Director 

at the conclusion of the 2011 Annual 

General Meeting, Mr John O’Rourke was 

appointed by the Board as a Director.

After eight years in the role, 

Mr Peter Fekete retired as Treasurer in 

accordance with the Club’s constitution.

Peter’s stewardship of the Club’s finances 

has greatly assisted in placing the VRC 

in a strong position to be able to plan 

for the future. He will remain on the 

Board as a valued Director. Tim Poole 

became the Club’s Treasurer in late 2011.

During the 2011/12 year, it was also 

announced that the Chief Executive, 

Dale Monteith, will be leaving the 

VRC at the end of 2012, after more than 

12 years in the position.

Dale has made an outstanding 

contribution to the VRC throughout 

this period. During his time as 

Chief Executive, Dale has led the VRC 

through an exciting phase of change 

and growth. Capitalising on his deep 

knowledge of racing, Dale has played 

an invaluable role in positioning the 

VRC as a global leader in our sport. 

He has been fiercely supportive of the 

VRC’s strong team culture.

Dale will be remembered fondly by 

all at the VRC and we wish him and 

his family all the very best for the future.
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Michael Burn, Chairman
Bachelor of Commerce Melbourne University

Date joined Committee/Board 
November 2003

Business interests 
Executive Director – Macquarie Capital, 

Member of Council and Chair of Finance 

Committee – Loreto Mandeville Hall 

Current racing interests 
Racehorse owner

Interests outside of racing 
Family, golf and snow skiing
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Bachelor of Arts (Hons) Melbourne University

Date joined Committee/Board 
July 2002

Business interests 
Director of Pastoral and Investment Companies, 

Member of the Australian Stud Book Committee, 

Director of the Australian Genetics Testing Pty 

Ltd, Melbourne City Council Advisory Board for 

Melbourne Spring Fashion Week

Current racing interests 
Breeder

Interests outside of racing 
Family, tennis, travel, music, theatre, 
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Bachelor of Commerce Melbourne University, 

Associate, Institute of Chartered Accountants

Date joined Committee/Board 
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Business interests 
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Current racing interests 
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Family, golf and running
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Business interests 
Company Director, former partner of 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Chartered Accountants

Current racing interests 
Racehorse owner and hobby breeder

Interests outside of racing 
Family, skiing and football
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Bachelor of Laws, Master of Laws and 

Bachelor of Arts Melbourne University, 
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Racehorse owner and breeder

Interests outside of racing 
Hawthorn Football Club, food, wine and travel
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2011 emirates
melbourne cup

First
Horse Dunaden
Trainer Mikel Delzangles
Jockey Christophe Lemaire

Second
Horse Red Cadeaux
Trainer Ed Dunlop
Jockey Michael Rodd

Third
Horse Lucas Cranach
Trainer Anthony Freedman
Jockey Corey Brown
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Julian Sullivan

Executive General Manager
Club Services

39%
The Flemington racing program 
hosted a high proportion of Group 
or Listed Races – almost 39%

$18.1 
million
The 2011 Melbourne Cup 
Carnival program offered more 
than $18.1 million in prizemoney, 
bonuses and trophies

97%
of Members were satisfied after 
contacting VRC Customer Service

Membership

Melbourne Cup Carnival 
The popularity of the Melbourne Cup 

Carnival among Members is undeniable. 

In the Members’ Reserved Car Parks, 

The Rails reached capacity on all days 

of the Carnival, and Super Sites in 

The Domain and The Nursery reached 

capacity on AAMI Victoria Derby, 

Crown Oaks and Emirates Stakes Days.

Members’ facilities in The Birdcage included 

high-end private marquees – The Chalets 

and The Hedges and a shared marquee – 

The Members’ Pavilion. The Hedges and 

The Chalets reached capacity on AAMI 

Victoria Derby, Emirates Melbourne Cup 

and Crown Oaks Days. The Members’ 

Pavilion reached capacity on AAMI Victoria 

Derby and Emirates Melbourne Cup Days 

and was operational as a Young Members’ 

facility, for the first time, on Emirates 

Stakes Day. 

Members’ dining was extremely popular, 

with the Members’ Dining Room, 

The Atrium Tiered and Members’ Old 

Grandstand First Floor Reserved Dining 

at capacity on all days of the Carnival. 

Members’ events and offers
With a focus on targeting all segments 

of the Membership base, several new 

Members’ events were introduced, 

and well supported, during the year. 

New events included:

• L’Oréal Melbourne Fashion Festival 

Members’ Event

• Young Members’ Pavilion on Emirates 

Stakes Day

• Members’ private gold class viewing 

of The Cup

• VRC Racing Tour – Singapore

• MCC/VRC Members’ Lounge 

at the cricket

• Racing Rewards Acclaim for 

Americain event in the Flemington 

Heritage Centre.

The Members’ Benefit Program offering 

was enhanced with the introduction 

of sponsors Cox & Kings, Treasury Wine 

Estates/Yellowglen and Lexus. The appeal 

of the program is demonstrated through 

the popularity of its offers, in particular 

the Emirates Airline offer, which generated 

more than $1.9 million in bookings 

on Emirates flights by VRC Members 

during 2011/12.
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Club Services
continued

   2009   2010   2011
 total crowd member % total crowd member % total crowd member %

Derby 108,178 52,485 48.5 90,361 49,112 54.4 92,336 57,361 62.1

Cup 102,161 43,013 42.1 110,223 47,817 43.4 105,979 45,815 43.2

Oaks 80,112 40,500 50.6 75,088 41,955 55.9 71,659 46,482 64.9

Stakes 78,478 44,945 57.3 77,506 44,609 57.6 85,112 49,727 58.4

Total 368,929 180,943 49.0 353,178 183,493 52.0 355,086 199,385 56.2

Communications
The quality of VRC communications 

was officially recognised, when the 2010 

Melbourne Cup Carnival Official Souvenir 

Magazine received a gold Folio Award, 

for best overall design, in the Folio Awards 

in New York. This was the first gold for the 

magazine in what is considered the world’s 

most prestigious magazine publishing 

awards competition. 

The Club is conscious of the growing 

trend to communicate with Members 

and other stakeholders via social media 

channels. More than 2,500 people are 

following the Club @VRC_Members on 

Twitter and more than 5,000 on Facebook. 

Communication through social media 

will continue to be utilised by the VRC. 

Another societal trend recognised 

by the VRC is the move towards more 

online communication. The Club has 

acknowledged this preference by Members 

by reducing the number of hard copy 

mailings sent to Members, and replacing 

with increased online communication. 

Racing Rewards
2011/12 marked the 10th year of the 

Racing Rewards program. To celebrate this 

milestone, the Club introduced Platinum 

Group Status, a new status designed 

to recognise the Club’s most frequently 

attending Members. To be eligible for 

Platinum Group Status, Members had 

to accumulate 250+ points during the 

season. Platinum Members received 

additional benefits, including an invitation 

to the Platinum Group Party and entry 

into the Platinum prize draw, which 

was a Lexus CT 200h.

A record 172 Members attended 

every racemeeting during 2011/12. 

These Members were recognised 

on Racing Rewards Raceday, 

Saturday 11 August 2012. 

The Chairman’s Club
The Chairman’s Club, the VRC’s premium 

Membership package, reached its capacity 

of 80 Members during 2011/12.

Customer Service Centre
The VRC Customer Service Centre 

received more than 106,000 telephone 

calls during 2011/12. Pleasingly, the 2012 

Members’ Market Research results stated 

that 97% of Members were satisfied after 

contacting Customer Service.

rewards no. of members no. of members
group 2009/10 2010/11

Group 1 1,741 1,758

Group 2 1,925 1,893

Group 3 4,078 4,394

Total 7,744 8,045

membership 
categories no. of members

Full 21,613

Restricted 4,540

Life 122

Pre 1979 350

Provisional 92

Absentee 2,091

Junior 1,039

Total 29,847

racing rewards 
group status 2011/12

Platinum 832

Group 1 870

Group 2 1,798

Group 3 4,325

Total 7,825
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Corporate Hospitality & Events

The Melbourne Cup Carnival remains 

a ‘must attend’ event for local, interstate 

and international businesses. During the 

2011 Carnival, the Victoria Racing Club 

delivered the finest marquees, dining 

rooms and catering options for 

corporate entertaining.

Corporate marquees 
In its second year of operation, the ‘Absolute’ 

structure, in the Winning Post Enclosure, 

housed 45 marquees and achieved 100% 

occupancy rate.

Club sponsors and key corporates, such as 

Crown, IBM and Schweppes, entertained 

their guests in elevated marquees within 

the Trackside Enclosure.

Corporate suites
Of the 14 private suites located at 

Flemington, eight were sold for the entire 

2011/12 season and the remaining six 

suites were sold per racemeeting and 

during the four days of the Melbourne 

Cup Carnival.

Non-Member restaurants 
and dining facilities
The Terrace Restaurant remains 

Flemington’s premium public restaurant, 

with 300 annual subscriptions purchased 

for 2011/12. 

The Panorama and Skyline were also 

popular choices for general admission 

patrons and reached capacity on 

AAMI Victoria Derby and Emirates 

Melbourne Cup Days.

The Makybe Diva and Archer marquees, 

International Lounge, Champions 

Lounge and Lawn Stand boxes gave 

public diners a wide range of hospitality 

options to choose from during the 

Melbourne Cup Carnival.

The Event Centre
The Flemington Event Centre managed 

a variety of events during 2011/12 ranging 

from weddings through to large scale 

product launches.

The growth of the outdoor events business 

continued to be a focus for the Club. 

Catering

The introduction of two new caterers, 

Atlantic Group and Blake’s Feast, for the 

Melbourne Cup Carnival added to the 

highly regarded panel of Flemington 

caterers, which already included 

The Big Group, Epicure, Life’s a Party Group, 

Peter Rowland Catering, Table Matters, 

Libby Reid Catering and Damm Fine Food. 

The strong relationship between VRC 

and Peter Rowland Catering (PRC) at 

Flemington, the Club’s oncourse caterers, 

facilitates a collaborative approach, which 

has proven to be a key driver of success 

for this area of the business. VRC staff 

will continue to seek PRC’s advice on all 

catering matters to ensure that guests 

receive the highest quality catering 

experience while at Flemington.

100% 
occupancy rate
In its second year of operation, the 
‘Absolute’ structure in the Winning 
Post Enclosure housed 45 marquees 
and achieved 100% occupancy rate.

300 
subscriptions
The Terrace Restaurant remains 
Flemington’s premium public 
restaurant, with 300 subscriptions 
purchased for 2011/12.
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Racing

An attractive array of feature races, 

with significant financial returns, 

was the cornerstone of the VRC racing 

program in 2011/12, and the rewards 

on offer once again brought high quality 

racing to Flemington throughout 

the season. 

The 2011 Melbourne Cup Carnival 

program offered more than $18.1 million 

in prizemoney, bonuses and trophies to 

connections across the 37 races conducted. 

Its allure was most evident in the Emirates 

Melbourne Cup race itself, where half the 

field was made up of overseas trained 

horses. The success rate of the ‘raiders’ in 

filling six of the first seven placings was 

astonishing, and it marks the dawn of 

a new era of challenge for the Emirates 

Melbourne Cup.

Season overview
• 23 VRC racemeetings held at Flemington

• 189 races were run, taking in 2,224 

starters. The season average was 

11.8 and the Melbourne Cup Carnival 

average was 14 

• There were 13 Group One, 12 Group Two, 

14 Group Three, and 34 Listed Races for 

a total of 73 ‘Black Type’ races

• $36.2 million in prizemoney was paid out

The Flemington racing program hosted 

a high proportion of Group or Listed Races 

– almost 39%. This statistic supports the 

Club’s positioning as one of the great 

racing clubs of the world.

Racing highlights

2011 Melbourne Cup Carnival
• Dominant victory of Atlantic Jewel 

in the Wakeful Stakes, which saw her 

assessed as the best filly in the world 

at a middle distance

• Fighting win by Australia’s best 

sprinting 3YO, Sepoy, in the Coolmore 

Stud Stakes

• Second consecutive AAMI Victoria Derby 

success by a New Zealand trained 

3YO – after a 20-year absence from 

the Derby winner’s stall

• Closest ever finish in a Melbourne Cup, 

with French raider Dunaden prevailing 

over UK stayer Red Cadeaux by a matter 

of millimetres

• Incredible nine length winning margin 

by Mosheen in the Crown Oaks

• Another breathtaking display by world 

champion sprinter Black Caviar in the 

Patinack Farm Classic

• Thrilling photo finish in a very 

high quality Emirates Stakes won 

by Albert The Fat

2012 Melbourne Festival of Racing 
at Flemington
• Surprise appearance by Black Caviar 

in the Coolmore Lightning Stakes, after 

running over 1400m just seven days 

earlier. She once again comfortably 

defeated her main rival Hay List

• Crown Oaks winner Mosheen confirming 

her class by defeating a top class field 

of 3YOs in the Australian Guineas

• Hay List giving connections a glorious 

moment by carrying top weight to win 

the Lexus Newmarket Handicap in the 

very last stride

• Training genius of Peter Moody on 

display when the ‘re-invented’ Manighar 

won the Dubai Australian Cup

Summary
Race programming strategies and 

initiatives for Flemington feature 

racemeetings, with emphasis on 

the Melbourne Cup Carnival, continue 

to align with the VRC’s vision – to 

maintain Flemington as a world leader 

in thoroughbred racing. Continuous 

development of, and investment in, 

feature races at Flemington, is a critical 

element of the Club’s present and 

future success.

Club Services
continued
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34 
destinations
The Emirates Melbourne Cup Tour, in 
its ninth year, visited 34 destinations 
around Australia and New Zealand

$476.8 
million
The Advertising Space Rate value 
of VRC and associated event editorial 
media coverage totalled more than 
$476.8 million

40,657
The 2011 Carnival attracted 40,657 
interstate visitors to Victoria

Fleur Salisbury

Executive General Manager
Brand, Sponsorship and Marketing

2011 Melbourne Cup Carnival 
economic impact 
The VRC engaged independent research 

company IER Pty Ltd to measure the 

contribution the 2011 Melbourne Cup 

Carnival made to the Victorian economy. 

The study measures both the total broad 

economic impact of the Carnival and 

the specific contribution to the Victorian 

economy of those visitors from interstate 

and overseas who travel to Victoria for 

the primary purpose of attending the 

Melbourne Cup Carnival. 

Remarkably for a fully self-funded event, 

that did not benefit from government 

funding, the total gross economic benefit 

of the 2011 Melbourne Cup Carnival for 

Victoria was $349.17 million, which was 

equivalent to the achievement in 2010. 

The 2011 Carnival attracted 40,657 

interstate visitors to Victoria, while 3,913 

individuals travelled from overseas purely 

for the purpose of attending the Carnival. 

These visitors were directly responsible 

for an induced economic impact of 

$160.8 million that would otherwise not 

have been spent in Victoria. This represents 

a decrease of 11.2% on 2010 results; however, 

in 2010 we celebrated the 150th Melbourne 

Cup, and its long lead promotion in 

key markets played a significant role 

in attracting additional primary 

purpose visitors to Victoria in 2010.

The VRC is committed to continuing 

to grow international and out-of-state 

visitations to Flemington for the 

Melbourne Cup Carnival. 

International Program 
The VRC’s International Program seeks 

to drive awareness and promotion of the 

Emirates Melbourne Cup and the broader 

Melbourne Cup Carnival, with the ultimate 

objective of driving visitation and broadcast 

benefits for the VRC and Victoria. 

The VRC’s 2011/12 International Program 

saw the Emirates Melbourne Cup trophy 

travel to Shanghai, New Zealand, Ireland 

and, for the first time, Mumbai. The Club 

was delighted to have the Premier of 

Victoria, The Hon Ted Baillieu (Shanghai) 

and Tourism Minister The Hon Louise 

Asher (Mumbai) attend VRC events 

during the course of the program. 

The VRC will continue to work closely with 

key stakeholders, such as the Victorian 

Government, to broaden the promotion 

of the Melbourne Cup Carnival across 

international boundaries. 

and
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Brand, Sponsorship 
and Marketing 
continued 2012 Melbourne Festival of Racing

The Melbourne Festival of Racing 

at Flemington is the VRC’s primary 

racing carnival outside of the spring. 

Autumn racing commenced with 

Coolmore Lightning Stakes Day 

(Saturday 18 February 2012) where 

racegoers witnessed champion mare 

Black Caviar win her 19th consecutive race.

The Victorian State Government’s Racing 

Attraction Program (RAP) approved the 

VRC’s application for a grant to assist 

in the funding of the Flemington Family 

Pass initiative on Australian Guineas Day. 

The Family Pass offered more than $110 

worth of value for $40 and included entry 

to the racecourse, food and drinks and 

access to the ‘Entertainment Precinct’. 

The grant contributed to family 

entertainment, including a performance 

by Johnny Ruffo, Alvin and the Chipmunks 

and a variety of children’s activities. It was 

unfortunate that inclement weather 

prevented a true indication of the 

success of the initiative. 

While attendances on Australian Guineas 

Day and Super Saturday were down on 

last year’s numbers, overall total crowd 

attendance for the Melbourne Festival 

of Racing at Flemington was up by 4,620.

2011 Myer Fashions on the Field 
Myer Fashions on the Field was once again 

conducted on a national scale, with five 

interstate heats held in capital cities for 

the women’s racewear category leading 

into the 2011 Melbourne Cup Carnival. 

The coveted national title for women’s 

racewear, held on Crown Oaks Day at 

Flemington, was awarded to New South 

Wales state winner, Angela Menz, who 

received more than $100,000 worth of 

prizes, including a Lexus IS 250C Sports 

Convertible. Further categories included 

Men’s Racewear and the exclusive 

invitation-only Design and Millinery 

Awards, with the overall prize pool 

exceeding $400,000. 

Emirates Stakes Day Fashions on the Field 

attracted more than 1,000 pre-registered 

entries across three categories – junior 

(6–12 years), senior (13–17 years) and 

a new family category. 

Public relations
Public relations is becoming an 

increasingly important component of 

the VRC’s marketing and communications 

mix as the Club seeks to drive widespread 

coverage of its many programs and 

initiatives. The Advertising Space Rate 

(ASR) value of VRC and associated event 

editorial media coverage monitored 

during the 2011/12 season totalled more 

than $476.8 million. ASR values indicate 

the cost of purchasing the equivalent 

amount of media space and/or time 

as straight advertising. 

Emirates Melbourne Cup Tour
The Emirates Melbourne Cup Tour, in its ninth year, visited 34 destinations around 

Australia and New Zealand and was an extremely successful program. 

There was strong media support with more than $4.15 million in media value recorded 

during its duration.

Living up to its status as the ‘People’s Cup’, the Tour visited 36 schools and 24 hospitals 

and aged care facilities, participating in 105 community events, including community 

barbecues, dinners, cocktail parties, charity occasions and race days.
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Brand, Sponsorship 
and Marketing 
continued VRC in the community: 

Melbourne Cup Community Program
Through the Melbourne Cup 

Community Program, the VRC supports 

a range of charitable and community 

organisations by providing:

• Cash and in-kind donations

• Complimentary race sponsorship as 

part of designated community racedays

• Oncourse fundraising and

• Discounted dining and function pricing 

for selected charities.

Through its charitable activity, the 

VRC helped organisations raise nearly 

$400,000, and contributed more than 

$130,000 in cash and in-kind donations 

during the 2011/12 season.

Pin & Win is the VRC’s major annual 

fundraising program, and Vision Australia 

was the charity partner for the 2011 

Melbourne Cup Carnival. The VRC worked 

closely with Vision Australia to deliver 

their volunteer pin seller program, promote 

the competition and profile the work 

of the charity. Through Pin & Win, Vision 

Australia raised just over $200,000 (after 

costs) towards the redevelopment of its 

puppy breeding and training facility 

in Kensington.

Sponsorship 
Sponsorship remains a vitally important 

revenue stream for the VRC. Despite 

challenging economic conditions, the 

Club retained a robust sponsorship 

hierarchy during the 2011/12 Racing Season. 

A marginal decrease in year-on-year net 

revenue was related to a readjustment 

of premiums applied to sponsorship fees 

in 2010, due to the 150th running of the 

Melbourne Cup. 

Major sponsorship renewals during the 

2011/12 season included James Boags, 

Longines and Dubai, all of whom 

committed to multi-year extensions. 

The Club continues to be proud of the 

longevity of many of its partnerships, 

including Treasury Wine Estates (since 

1977), Schweppes (1978), AAMI (1992) 

and Crown (1993). 

Online
During 2011/12, the VRC focused 

on the development of the Club’s 

digital marketing strategy to reflect 

the changing habits of Members and 

customers when it comes to accessing 

important information. A major 

redevelopment of the Club’s three key 

website platforms – Melbourne Cup 

Carnival, VRC and Flemington – was 

undertaken during 2011/12 and the Club 

will continue to embrace digital as an 

integral component of the marketing 

and communications mix.

2011/12 vrc charitable contributions – direct and indirect
Indirect – fundraising conducted by community organisations at Flemington $393,000

Indirect – 4tracks4kids charity walk $24,875

Direct – VRC cash donations $89,000

Direct – VRC in-kind donations $44,000

Total $550,875
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Mark Davies

Executive General Manager 
Flemington

Facility upgrades
Victoria Racing Club continued to invest 

in Flemington facilities during 2011/12, 

with a particular focus on improvements 

in The Grandstand. Throughout the course, 

facility upgrades included new carpet 

in The Forum, more than 100 new LCD 

televisions, and additional EBT machines. 

There was also an increase in the number 

of security cameras with CCTV capabilities, 

in both internal and external areas, as 

a way to protect Flemington assets and 

maintain raceday safety and security. 

Capital improvements 
In 2011/12, a pedestrian walk connecting 

the Members’ Reserved Car Park and train 

platform was created. This pedestrian 

walk enables improved access for all 

patrons at Flemington, in particular 

those with accessibility needs. 

During the last year, replacement 

of equipment (scissor lift, trucks and 

tractors) has enabled Flemington 

Racecourse staff to maintain the 

world-class standard of the Flemington 

tracks and grounds. 

Outdoor events at Flemington
Flemington once again utilised its 

extensive grounds to provide revenue 

generation by hosting numerous outdoor 

events during 2011/12. Events held 

at Flemington included Future Music 

Festival, Good Life Music Festival, Big Day 

Out and The Wiggles 25-year celebrations. 

Tracks and stabling
Flemington course proper hosted two 

racedays more than originally planned 

when it came to the aid of the Victorian 

Racing Industry by hosting a Moonee 

Valley mid-week and Saturday raceday 

in June, taking the total number of 

racemeetings in 2011/12 to 25. 

Training facilities were improved through 

the renovation of the dirt track and an 

increased emphasis on stable maintenance, 

in addition to capital improvements 

to the growing Malua Racing Stables.

Planning for further major improvements 

at Flemington Racecourse is underway.
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Since 2008, with the assistance 

of the VRC’s sustainability partners, 

the Flemington Green Fields program has 

developed initiatives which will deliver 

tangible reductions to the environmental 

impact of our operations at Flemington.

Flemington Green Fields was recognised 

for its contribution to environmental 

sustainability, receiving the 2011 Melbourne 

Award for Contribution to Sustainability.

This prestigious honour reinforces 

the VRC as an industry leader in 

the environmental management 

of major events.

Key achievements of the Flemington 

Green Fields Program in 2011/12 

are listed below.

resource area partner achievement

Energy AGL •  Solar panels on The Grandstand and super screen contributed more than 25,000Kw/h.

Schweppes •  Schweppes Australia upgraded its front of house refrigeration equipment at Flemington to energy 

efficient coolers prior to the 2011 Melbourne Cup Carnival, resulting in up to 25% reduction in energy 

consumption in this area.

•  Installation of a new chiller in The Grandstand to increase air conditioning energy efficiency, estimated 

to save more than 40,000kg of CO2 emissions per year. 

•  A pilot program to control commercial refrigeration throughout The Grandstand resulted 

in a 20% reduction in energy consumption.

Waste Cleanevent •  Up from 28% in 2008, 76% of waste was sent to be sorted and processed at recycling centres to divert 

waste from landfill. 

SecondBite

Peter Rowland 

Catering

•  Redistribution of more than 3,700kg of fresh surplus food, which would otherwise go to landfill. 

This represents:

– 7,448 meals provided to people in need through charities

– $11,000 of recipient charity funding redirected to other services

–  Prevention of over 3,300kg of CO2 gases from being emitted into the atmosphere from food breaking 

down in landfill.

Water City West Water •  Flemington’s world-first in situ desalination units operated throughout the 2011/12 season, yielding 

approximately 45ML of water that would otherwise be taken from potable sources.
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The executive team effectively communicates the reasons for important business decisions

The VRC is doing a good job of retaining its most talented people

As far as you’re aware, VRC’s management do a good job in practising what they preach

From what I hear, our pay is as good as or better than other organisations

There’s effective info sharing between departments 27

27

29

34

38

bottom five favourable scores

I’m willing to put in a great deal of extra effort to help the Club succeed

I fully support the values for which the Club stands

I have a very clear idea of my job responsibilities

I understand what the VRC’s brand stands for

The people I work with usually get along well together 90

87

86

85

85

top five favourable scores

Tracey May

Executive General Manager
People and Culture

 The 2011/12 Racing Season has seen 

significant achievements and changes 

to the Human Resources (HR) function.

Following last year’s major restructure, 

and in line with our changing people 

responsibilities, the HR team was 

renamed ‘People and Culture’. The team’s 

responsibilities continue to ensure 

our policies and processes are well 

managed; however, there’s a much 

sharper focus on supporting and 

partnering with the business around 

people and their wellbeing.

The VRC’s staff engagement survey 

(see below), conducted for the first 

time in August 2011, has provided 

a rich source of information to help 

shape the direction of our people 

processes over the past 12 months.

On the positive side, the survey 

showed people are clear about their job 

responsibilities and are very supportive 

of the Club. They also understand the 

Club’s strong brand and what it stands 

for in the marketplace. While there 

is a lot to be proud of, the survey also 

highlighted the need to improve 

communication and engagement across 

the Club, and in particular the need 

to be very clear about how we recognise, 

remunerate and retain our people.

The successful introduction of a 

performance review framework has 

reinforced ‘how’ we achieve is just 

as important as ‘what’ we achieve. 

By linking performance with an agreed 

set of behaviours, individuals are 

now recognised not only for achieving 

results, but also for how they live 

up to the values of our organisation.

Reinforcing this, the first ever ‘People Awards’ 

celebration dinner was held in November. 

The event was a great success, with 

over 120 people attending to recognise 

our best contributors.

The Club’s reward and recognition 

philosophy continues to capture the 

generous spirit of the VRC with the service 

milestone awards breakfast. The awards 

breakfast remains a firm favourite with 

our people and preserves the spirit and 

heritage of the Club.

The Club also remembered the late 

David Christensen’s outstanding 

contribution to racing with the second  

of our leadership scholarships created  

in his name to help support and develop 

our future leaders. Professional memberships 

and postgraduate study support also 

provide development opportunities.

Having clear lines of responsibilities 

and understanding how each individual 

contributes to the Club’s vision for the future 

has been part of a new goal setting process. 

Individuals are encouraged to consider how 

they want or need to develop in their role 

to help identify progression opportunities. 

All positions now have role descriptions, 

allowing more effective decisions around 

resourcing and recruitment. The processes 

for casual event staff have also been 

reviewed and a new merit based selection 

processes put in place.

With the many changes of the past year, 

and more to come, improving the way we 

communicate and engage with our people 

is a high priority. Regular cascading team 

briefings have been introduced, along with 

greater feedback opportunities. Leadership 

workshops are also helping to equip 

managers with the skills they need to better 

communicate with their teams.

While there’s been great progress in 2011/12, 

People and Culture will continue to work to 

identify further opportunities to connect with 

our people. Our ability to attract and retain 

an engaged, skilled and high-performing 

workforce is an important step in achieving 

our long-term business strategy.

and
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Simon Love

Executive General Manager
Corporate Finance and 
Strategic Initiatives

The Club achieved a net profit 

of $2.4 million for the 12 months 

ending 31 July 2012, an improvement 

of $0.2 million, or 8.4%, on last 

year’s result. 

During the financial year, the Club 

undertook a full review of operations 

to determine the best way to fund a 

rollout of significant customer focused 

infrastructure upgrades in what is clearly 

a difficult economic climate. This included 

a rigorous review of the Club’s cost base 

and the way it conducts business, including 

procurement processes and working capital 

management, to deliver savings. The cost 

reduction and containment resulted 

in expenses of $140.9 million for the 2012 

financial year, a decline of $2.9 million, 

or 2%. It is anticipated further cost saving 

initiatives will be developed through 

the 2013 financial year.

During the review, the Club maintained 

its commitment to owners, returning 

$36.2 million in prizemoney for the year.

The Club has committed a further increase 

in prizemoney for the 2013 financial year 

of $960K, a total of $37 million. 

The Club achieved revenue of $143.3 million 

for the year, a decline of $2.7 million, 

or 1.9%. Revenue was impacted by the 

cancellation of the Good Vibrations 

Festival and inclement weather impacting 

general admission sales during the 2011 

Melbourne Cup Carnival. The Club is 

committed to improving the overall 

experience for public patrons, part of 

which is the need to improve the public 

facilities. To achieve this, $1 million has 

been invested in improving these 

facilities, which includes a major 

renovation to Level 1 of the Hill Stand. 

In addition to the investment in 

improving physical public facilities, 

the Club has commissioned a range 

of exciting new technology projects 

that will assist the Club to deliver an 

enhanced Member and public experience 

at Flemington. The investment in 

technology will also drive internal 

efficiencies and the ability to respond 

more quickly to customer needs. 

The main sources of revenue for the 

Club continues to be catering, dining, 

hospitality and events – $46.8 million, 

racing distributions – $28 million, 

and sponsorship and broadcast rights 

– $21.9 million. The Club will continue 

to look to diversify its revenue streams 

to ensure long-term sustainability. 

Revenue from Members and their 

guests play an integral part in the 

financial success of the Club, contributing 

$16.2 million in the 2011 financial year, 

excluding revenue contribution to raceday 

catering and dining. The Members are 

to be congratulated for their ongoing 

financial commitment to the Club.

Net debt position
Net operating cash flow for the period 

was $8.8 million compared with last year’s 

cash flow of $8.1 million. After capital 

expenditure of $4.8 million and repayment 

of borrowings of $5.5 million, the net 

debt position of the Club was $7.1 million 

at year end. 
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Lucas Robertson

Executive General Manager
Legal and Risk

The VRC Board is ultimately responsible 

for the governance of the Club and 

remains committed to continuous 

improvement in this area. The Directors 

operate according to a strict code of 

conduct and the rules set down by 

the Club’s constitution and by-laws.

Board composition and term 
of office
The Board currently consists of 

eight independent Directors and 

the Chief Executive.

Each independent Director must seek 

re-election every three years, and Directors 

must resign office at the next AGM after 

they reach the age of 72.

The Chairman, Vice Chairman and 

Honorary Treasurer are appointed each 

year. They may serve in these roles for 

a maximum of eight years.

It is the Board’s intention to seek 

Directors with a broad range of skills and 

experience to assist it in carrying out its 

responsibilities and in meeting the Club’s 

strategic objectives.

Should a casual vacancy arise on the 

Board, the Board may fill that vacancy 

after considering the skills and experience 

of existing Board members. The new 

Director must submit to re-election 

at the next annual general meeting 

following his or her appointment.

Sub-committees
The Board establishes sub-committees, 

as required, to assist in carrying out its 

primary functions. These sub-committees 

meet on a regular basis and act 

in an advisory capacity making 

recommendations to the Board. 

Audit and Risk 
Management Committee
The Audit and Risk Management 

Committee comprises the Honorary 

Treasurer (as Chair) and two other Directors.

This committee meets on at least three 

occasions throughout the year and on 

further occasions as the need arises. 

The committee meets with, and receives 

regular reports from, the Club’s auditors 

and management. The committee presents 

its findings and makes recommendations 

to the Board.

The main responsibilities of the Audit 

and Risk Management Committee are:

• Reviewing the financial statements to 

determine whether they are complete 

and consistent with the information 

known to the Board and to assess 

whether the financial statements 

reflect appropriate accounting policies

• Gaining an understanding of the areas 

of greatest risk and the framework 

adopted by management to manage 

those risks

• Monitoring the progress of significant 

projects from a financial risk perspective

• Overseeing the Club’s external and 

internal audit programs

• Selection, evaluation and compensation 

of the external auditor.
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Corporate reporting
The Board receives reports from 

management on a monthly basis 

and otherwise as required.

Management
The Club utilises a web-based risk 

management system to record, 

monitor and report on risks affecting 

the business. The Senior Risk Manager 

meets with executives individually and 

as a group, on a regular basis, to update 

the risk register at both departmental 

and enterprise levels, and reviews the 

effectiveness of controls. This process 

gives input and ownership to people 

at all levels and in all departments of the 

Club, while providing greater visibility 

and confidence to executive and senior 

management and the Board.

The Club has combined its legal, risk 

management, safety and compliance 

functions under a single Legal and Risk 

Department to ensure a co-ordinated 

approach to managing risk across 

the organisation.

Codes of conduct
The Club has developed codes of 

conduct, which require Directors and 

employees to maintain the highest 

standards of professionalism and lawful 

and ethical behaviour.

Conflicts of interest
Directors and employees are expected 

to avoid any action, position or interest 

that conflicts with an interest of the Club 

or may give any appearance of such 

a conflict. A Director who has a conflict 

or a perceived conflict with an interest 

of the Club must bring the matter to the 

notice of the other Directors. Directors 

will not vote on matters in which they 

have an interest and may, at the Chairman’s 

discretion, be asked to leave the boardroom 

while the matter is being considered.

Remuneration of Directors 
and senior executives
A Remuneration Committee comprising 

the Chairman, Vice Chairman and Honorary 

Treasurer reviews senior executive 

remuneration annually. The Chief 

Executive also attends these meetings.

With the exception of the Chief Executive, 

VRC’s Directors act in a voluntary capacity.

Legal review
The VRC’s in-house legal counsel are 

involved in the negotiation of contracts 

and provide advice and support to all 

areas of the Club. Processes and training 

are implemented, as required, to ensure 

a consistent approach to contract 

negotiation and management. 

External legal advice is also sought 

where appropriate.

Monthly reports are provided to the Board 

in relation to litigation and other material 

legal matters. 

Governance culture
The Club remains committed to ensuring 

that all employees are appropriately 

inducted, trained and supported such 

that corporate governance becomes an 

integral part of doing business at the VRC.
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Victoria Racing Club Limited (‘the Club’) 

became a registered company under the 

Corporations Act 2001 on 10 April 2006.

The Directors of the Club submit herewith 

the annual financial report of the Club 

for the financial year ended 31 July 2012. 

In order to comply with the provisions of 

the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors 

report as follows:

The names of the Directors of the Club 

during or since the end of the financial 

year are as follows. Directors’ particulars 

and profiles can be viewed in the Annual 

Report on pages 10 to 11.

K L Bourke

M S Burn

A M Elliott

P J Fekete

R M Fitzroy (resigned 16 December 2011)

P T Leeds

D G Monteith

J B O’Rourke (appointed 16 December 2011)

T M Poole

E J Sturzaker

Company Secretary
Lucas Robertson, General Counsel.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Club during 

the year were the conduct of racemeetings 

and the provision of training facilities 

for horses that are stabled and trained 

at Flemington racecourse.

Review of operations
The profit for the year ended 31 July 2012 

was $2.4 million compared with a profit 

of $2.2 million for the prior year. 

Contributing to the increase in profit 

was as follows: 

• The Club undertook a full review 

of operations, including a review of 

the Club’s cost base. This resulted in 

expenditure decreasing by $2.9 million 

to $140.9 million. The decrease in 

expenditure was primarily due 

to a reduction in catering, dining, 

hospitality and events costs of 

$1.7 million and marketing and 

sponsorship costs of $1.0 million. 

• The reduction in the cost base was 

offset by a reduction in revenues 

of $2.7 million to $143.3 million. 

Contributing to the decline was 

a reduction in revenue from catering, 

dining, hospitality and events of 

$1.3 million and marketing, sponsorship 

and broadcast rights of $1.3 million. 

• Depreciation and amortisation costs 

of $8.6 million were expensed for the 

year compared with $9.1 million for 

the prior year.

The following items were recognised 

directly in equity during the year: 

• An impairment loss of $26,726 relating 

to the investment held in 3UZ Sport 927.

• Freehold land was independently 

valued at 31 July 2012, resulting 

in an increase of $0.8 million.

• An actuarial loss of $2.2 million 

on the Club’s defined benefit 

superannuation plan was recognised 

following an actuarial review of the 

plan’s financial position.

Changes in state of affairs
During the financial year, there was no 

significant change in the state of affairs 

of the Club other than that referred to in 

the financial statements or notes thereto.

Subsequent events
There has not been any matter or 

circumstance occurring subsequent 

to the end of the financial year that 

has significantly affected, or may 

significantly affect, the operations of the 

Club, the results of those operations or 

the state of affairs of the Club in future 

financial years.

Future developments
Disclosure of information regarding 

likely developments in the operations 

of the Club in future financial years and 

the expected results of those operations 

is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice 

to the Club. Accordingly, this information 

has not been disclosed in this Report.

Indemnification of officers 
and auditors
During the financial year, the Club 

paid a premium in respect of a contract 

insuring the Directors, officers and 

employees of the Club against a liability 

incurred as such a Director, officer or 

employee to the extent of all losses which 

the Club becomes legally obligated to pay 

on account of any claim. The Club has 

not, during or since the financial year, 

except to the extent permitted by law, 

indemnified or agreed to indemnify an 

auditor of the Club against a liability 

incurred as such an auditor.

Dividends
Under the Club’s constitution, no 

dividends may be declared or paid.

Directors’ meetings
The following table sets out the number 

of Directors’ meetings and meetings 

of the Audit and Risk Management 

Committee held during the financial 

year and the number of meetings 

attended by each Director (during 

their tenure). During the financial year, 

10 Board meetings and six Audit and 

Risk Committee meetings were held.

Directors’ Report
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  audit and risk
 board of directors management committee
 held att’d held att’d

Katherine Bourke 10 10 – –

Michael Burn 10 10 6 6

Amanda Elliott 10 9 – –

Peter Fekete 10 10 6 6

Rod Fitzroy* 5 5 – –

Paul Leeds 10 10 – –

Dale Monteith 10 10 6 5

John O’Rourke** 5 5 – –

Tim Poole 10 10 6 6

Elisa Sturzaker 10 9 – –

In accordance with Section 307C of the 

Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to 

provide the following declaration of 

independence to the Directors of Victoria 

Racing Club Limited.

As lead audit partner for the audit of the 

financial statements of Victoria Racing 

Club Limited for the financial year ended 

31 July 2012, I declare that to the best of 

my knowledge and belief, there have 

been no contraventions of:

(i) the auditor independence 

requirements of the Corporations Act 

2001 in relation to the audit; and

(ii) any applicable code of professional 

conduct in relation to the audit.

Yours faithfully

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Tony Brain, Partner
Chartered Accountants

Melbourne, 26 October 2012

Financial Statements
continued Directors’ Report continued

Independence Declaration

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu ABN 74 490 121 060
550 Bourke Street, Melbourne VIC 3000
GPO Box 78B, Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia, DX 111

Tel: +61 (0) 3 9671 7000, Fax: +61 (0) 3 9671 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

* Mr Fitzroy resigned from the Board on 16 December 2011.
** Mr O’Rourke was appointed to the Board on 16 December 2011.

Auditor
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu continues in office as the Club’s auditor. The auditor’s 

Independence Declaration is included in the financial statements on this page.

Rounding of amounts
The Club is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, 

and in accordance with that Class Order amounts in the Directors’ Report and the financial 

report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to Section 298(2) 

of the Corporations Act 2001. On behalf of the Directors,

Michael S Burn Director 
Melbourne, 26 October 2012
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members 
of Victoria Racing Club Limited

We have audited the accompanying 

financial report of Victoria Racing Club 

Limited, which comprises the statement 

of financial position as at 31 July 2012, 

the statement of comprehensive income, 

the statement of cash flows and the 

statement of changes in equity for the 

year ended on that date, notes comprising 

a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information, 

and the directors’ declaration of the 

company as set out on pages 40 to 56.

Directors’ Responsibility for 
the Financial Report
The directors of the company are 

responsible for the preparation of the 

financial report that gives a true and 

fair view in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standards – Reduced 

Disclosure Requirements and the 

Corporations Act 2001 and for such 

internal control as the directors 

determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of the financial report that 

gives a true and fair view and is free 

from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion 

on the financial report based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance 

with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Those standards require that we comply 

with relevant ethical requirements relating 

to audit engagements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance whether the financial report 

is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures 

to obtain audit evidence about the 

amounts and disclosures in the financial 

report. The procedures selected depend 

on the auditor’s judgement, including 

the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial report, 

whether due to fraud or error. In making 

those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control, relevant 

to the entity’s preparation of the financial 

report that gives a true and fair view, 

in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control. An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness 

of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates 

made by the directors, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation 

of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence 

we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
In conducting our audit, we have 

complied with the independence 

requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001. We confirm that the independence 

declaration required by the Corporations 
Act 2001, which has been given to the 

directors of Victoria Racing Club Limited, 

would be in the same terms if given 

to the directors as at the time of this 

auditor’s report.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial report 

of Victoria Racing Club Limited is 

in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the 

company’s financial position as at 

31 July 2012 and of its performance 

for the year ended on that date; and

(b) complying with Australian Accounting 

Standards – Reduced Disclosure 

Requirements and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, ABN 74 490 121 060 
550 Bourke Street, Melbourne VIC 3000 
GPO Box 78B, Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia, DX 111

Tel: +61 (0) 3 9671 7000, Fax: +61 (0) 3 9671 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Tony Brain, Partner
Chartered Accountants 

Melbourne, 26 October 2012



40  Victoria Racing Club Annual Report 2012

Financial Statements
continued Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 July 2012

  2012 2011
 notes $000 $000
revenue   

Thoroughbred Racing Industry Distributions 3(l) 27,983 27,791

Catering, Dining, Hospitality and Events  46,828 48,177

Marketing, Sponsorship and Broadcast Rights  21,926 23,209

Members’ Tickets and Subscriptions  16,188 16,253

Public Ticketing  13,498 14,048

Wagering and Other Racing Revenue  7,151 7,263

Racecourse and Training Facilities  4,320 3,667

Gaming  4,091 4,227

Share of Net Profits of Associates and Jointly Controlled 

Entities Accounted for Using the Equity Method 3(c),10 254 257

Interest  374 282

Net Gain on Disposal of Fixed Assets  38 34

Other Revenue  660 809

Total Revenue  143,311 146,017

expenditure   

Prizemoney and Other Returns to Owners  36,167 36,857

Catering, Dining, Hospitality and Events  38,931 40,677

Marketing and Sponsorship  11,029 12,043

Administration and Membership Services  21,926 22,285

Racecourse and Training Facilities  18,645 16,686

Gaming  4,276 4,319

Financing Costs  872 935

Depreciation and Amortisation  8,599 9,115

Other Expenditure  508 925

Total Expenditure  140,953 143,842

Profit for the Year 5 2,358 2,175

other comprehensive income   

(Loss) on Available For Sale Financial Assets  (27) (450)

Gain on Cash Flow Hedges  3 248

Gain on Revaluation of Properties  776 13

Actuarial (Loss) on Defined Benefit Plan 17 (2,173) (826)

Other Comprehensive Income for the Year  (1,421) (1,015)

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year  937 1,160

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position at 31 July 2012

  2012 2011
 notes $000 $000
assets   

Current Assets   

Cash and Cash Equivalents 18 3,499 5,513

Trade and Other Receivables 9 11,962 9,743

Inventories 3(b) 806 890

Prepayments  2,033 2,328

Total Current Assets  18,300 18,474

Non-current Assets   

Trade and Other Receivables 9 33 388

Investments Accounted for using the Equity Method 3(c),10 385 281

Other Financial Assets 11 6,754 6,781

Property, Plant and Equipment 3(e),(f),(o),12 185,579 188,658

Total Non-current Assets  192,751 196,108

Total Assets  211,051 214,582

liabilities   

Current Liabilities   

Trade and Other Payables 13 7,445 9,872

Fees in Advance  23,136 21,156

Borrowings 14 1,636 591

Provisions 3(i)( j),15 1,007 1,093

Derivative Financial Liability  – 3

Total Current Liabilities  33,224 32,715

Non-current Liabilities   

Borrowings 14 9,000 15,505

Provisions 3(i)( j),15 6,255 4,727

Total Non-current Liabilities  15,255 20,232

Total Liabilities  48,479 52,947

Net Assets  162,572 161,635

Equity   

Retained Earnings 5 105,236 105,051

Reserves 6 57,336 56,584

Total Equity  162,572 161,635

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Financial Statements
continued Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 July 2012

 properties investments cash flow  
 revaluation revaluation hedging retained 
 reserve reserve reserve earnings total
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance as at 31 July 2010 52,250 4,774 (251) 103,702 160,475

Profit for the year – – – 2,175 2,175

Other comprehensive 

income for the year 13 (450) 248 (826) (1,015)

Balance as at 31 July 2011 52,263 4,324 (3) 105,051 161,635

Profit for the year – – – 2,358 2,358

Other comprehensive 

income for the year 776 (27) 3 (2,173) (1,421)

Balance as at 31 July 2012 53,039 4,297 – 105,236 162,572

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 July 2012

  2012 2011
 notes $000 $000
cash flows from operating activities   

Receipts from Racing Industry Distributions  27,835 27,789

Receipts from Catering, Dining and Hospitality  39,840 35,925

Receipts from Marketing, Sponsorship and Broadcast Rights  21,926 23,209

Receipts from Members Tickets and Subscriptions  16,101 17,239

Receipts from Public Ticketing  13,498 14,048

Receipts from Events and Gaming  13,125 14,606

Receipts from Wagering and Other Racing Revenue  6,521 4,696

Receipts from Racecourse and Training Facilities  3,936 4,527

Payments for Prizemoney  (36,167) (36,916)

Payments for Catering, Dining and Hospitality  (25,348) (24,710)

Payments for Marketing and Sponsorship  (11,029) (12,771)

Payments for Administration and Members Services  (22,980) (22,325)

Payments for Events and Gaming  (18,047) (18,752)

Payments for Racecourse and Training Facilities  (19,808) (17,566)

Interest Received  374 282

Interest and Other Costs of Finance Paid  (935) (1,160)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 18(c) 8,842 8,121

cash flows from investing activities   

Payments for Buildings and Infrastructure  (392) (1,739)

Payments for Plant and Equipment  (2,390) (5,292)

Payments for Construction Work in Progress  (1,901) (2,409)

Payments for Intangibles  (281) – 

Proceeds from the Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment  49 129

Distribution from Equity Accounted Investments  150 50

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities  (4,765) (9,261)

cash flows from financing activities   

Proceeds from Borrowings  11,000 23,000

Repayment of Borrowings  (16,537) (23,500)

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities  (5,537) (500)

Net (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents  (1,460) (1,640)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Financial Year  4,959 6,599

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Financial Year 18(a) 3,499 4,959

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Financial Statements
continued

1. General information
The Victoria Racing Club Limited’s principal 

place of business and registered office 

is 448 Epsom Road, Flemington 3031, 

tel (03) 8378 0888.

Victoria Racing Club Limited (‘the Club’) 

is a public company limited by guarantee, 

incorporated and operating in Australia.

If the Club is wound up, the Constitution 

states that each current member, and 

each person who ceased membership 

within the preceding 12 months, is required 

to contribute a maximum of $10 towards 

meeting any outstanding obligations 

of the Club. At 31 July 2012, the number 

of members was 29,847 (2011: 29,930).

2. Adoption of new and revised 
accounting standards
Standards affecting reported results 
and financial position
There are no new and revised standards 

and interpretations adopted in these 

financial statements affecting the 

reporting results or financial position.

Standards affecting presentation 
and disclosure
Amendments to AASB 101 ‘Presentation 
of Financial Statements’
The amendments (part of AASB 2010-4 

‘Further Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising from the 

Annual Improvements Project’) clarify 

that an entity may choose to present 

the required analysis of items of other 

comprehensive income either in the 

statement of changes in equity or in 

the notes to the financial statements.

Standards and interpretations adopted 
with no effect on financial statements
AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ 
(revised December 2009)
This standard has been revised on the 

following two aspects: (a) AASB 124 

(revised December 2009) has changed 

the definition of a related party and 

(b) AASB 124 (revised December 2009) 

introduces a partial exemption from 

the disclosure requirements for 

government-related entities.

AASB 2010-5 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards’ 
This standard makes numerous editorial 

amendments to a range of Australian 

accounting standards and interpretations, 

including amendments to reflect changes 

made to the text of IFRSs by the IASB. 

These amendments have no major 

impact on the requirements of the 

amended pronouncements.

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements of the 
Victoria Racing Club Limited for the year ended 31 July 2012

3. Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance
These financial statements are general 

purpose financial statements, which 

have been prepared in accordance with 

the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian 

Accounting Standards – Reduced 

Disclosure Requirements as issued 

by the Australian Accounting Standards 

Board (AASB).

The financial statements were 

authorised for issue by the Directors 

on 26 October 2012.

Basis of preparation
The financial report has been prepared 

on the basis of historical cost, except for 

the revaluation of certain non-current 

assets and financial instruments. 

Cost is based on the fair values of the 

consideration given in exchange for assets. 

All amounts are presented in Australian 

dollars, unless otherwise noted.

The Club is a company of the kind 

referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, 

dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance 

with that Class Order amounts in the 

financial report are rounded off to 

the nearest thousand dollars, unless 

otherwise indicated.

The group has retained the presentation 

and classification of items in the 

financial statements from one period 

to the next unless:

i. It is apparent, following a significant 

change in the nature of the entity’s 

operations or a review of its financial 

statements, that another presentation 

or classification would be more 

appropriate having regard to the 

criteria or the selection and application 

of accounting policies in AASB 108; or

ii. An Australia Accounting Standard 

requires a change in presentation.

The following significant accounting 

policies have been adopted in the 

preparation and presentation of the 

Financial Report.

(a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and 

term deposits. Cash equivalents are 

short-term highly liquid investments 

that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and which are subject 

to an insignificant risk of changes 

in value and have a maturity of three 

months or less at the date of acquisition. 

Bank overdrafts are shown within 

borrowings in current liabilities in the 

Statement of Financial Position.
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Plant and equipment and buildings 

are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and impairment. 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the 

item. In the event that settlement of all 

or part of the purchase consideration 

is deferred, cost is determined by 

discounting the amounts payable 

in the future to their present value 

as at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on plant and 

equipment, including buildings and 

infrastructure, but excluding construction 

work in progress, and is calculated on 

a straight line basis so as to write-off the 

net cost of each asset over its expected 

useful life to its estimated residual value. 

The estimated useful lives, residual values 

and depreciation method are reviewed at 

the end of each annual reporting period, 

with the effect of any changes recognised 

on a prospective basis.

The following estimated useful lives are 

used in the calculation of depreciation.

• Buildings and Infrastructure – 

25 to 40 years.

• Plant and Equipment and Furniture 

and Fittings – 3 to 10 years.

(f) Leased assets
Leases are classified as finance leases 

when the terms of the lease transfer 

substantially all the risks and rewards 

incidental to ownership of the leased 

asset to the lessee. All other leases are 

classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are 

initially recognised at their fair value 

or, if lower, at amounts equal to the 

present value of the minimum lease 

payments, each determined at the 

inception of the lease. The corresponding 

liability to the lessor is included in the 

Statement of Financial Position as 

a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between 

finance charges and reduction of the lease 

obligation so as to achieve a constant rate 

of interest on the remaining balance of 

the liability. Finance charges are charged 

directly against income, unless they are 

directly attributable to qualifying assets, 

in which case they are capitalised in 

accordance with the Club’s general policy 

on borrowing costs. Refer to Note 3(h). 

Finance leased assets are amortised on 

a straight line basis over the estimated 

useful life of the asset.

Operating lease payments are 

recognised as an expense on a straight 

line basis over the lease term, except 

where another systematic basis is more 

representative of the time pattern 

in which economic benefits from 

the leased asset are consumed.

Jointly controlled entities
Interests in jointly controlled entities in 

which the Club is a venturer (and so has 

joint control) are accounted for under 

the equity method. The investments in the 

Australian Stud Book and the Australian 

Genetics Testing Pty Ltd are accounted 

for under the equity method.

(d) Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including trade 

and other payables and borrowings, are 

initially measured at fair value, net of 

transaction costs. Trade and other payables 

are recognised when the Club becomes 

obliged to make payments resulting from 

the purchase of goods and services.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method, with interest 

expense recognised on an effective 

yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method 

of calculating the amortised cost of 

a financial liability and of allocating 

interest expense over the relevant period. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that 

exactly discounts estimated future cash 

payments through the expected life of the 

financial liability, or, where appropriate, 

a shorter period.

(e) Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land is measured at fair value. 

Fair value is determined on the basis 

of an annual independent valuation 

prepared by external valuation experts 

based on an analysis of the size and 

position of the land, and of sales of land 

within close proximity over the last 

number of years. Fair values are recognised 

in the financial statements and are 

reviewed at the end of each reporting 

period to ensure that the carrying values 

of freehold land are not materially 

different from their fair values.

Any revaluation increase arising 

on the revaluation of land is credited to 

a revaluation reserve, except to the extent 

that it reverses a revaluation decrease 

for the same asset previously recognised 

as an expense in profit or loss, in which 

case the increase is credited to profit 

or loss to the extent of the decrease 

previously charged. A decrease in carrying 

amount arising on the revaluation of land 

is charged as an expense in profit or loss 

to the extent that it exceeds the balance, 

if any, held in the revaluation reserve 

relating to a previous revaluation 

of that asset.

(b) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost 

and net realisable value. Costs, including 

an appropriate portion of fixed and 

variable overhead expenses, are assigned 

to inventory on hand by the method most 

appropriate to each particular class of 

inventory, with the majority being valued 

on a first in first out basis. Net realisable 

value represents the estimated selling 

price for inventories less all estimated 

costs of completion and costs necessary 

to make the sale.

(c) Financial assets
Other financial assets
The investments in ThoroughVisioN 

Pty Ltd and 3UZ Sport 927 held by the 

Club are classified as being available 

for sale financial assets and are stated 

at fair value per the Directors’ valuation. 

Gains and losses arising from changes 

in fair value are recognised directly 

in the investment revaluation reserve 

with the exception of impairment losses, 

which are recognised directly in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Were the investment to be disposed 

of or is determined to be impaired, 

the cumulative gain or loss previously 

recognised in the investment revaluation 

reserve would be included in the Statement 

of Comprehensive Income for the period.

Available for sale financial assets are 

carried at Directors’ valuation. The Club 

has revised its formal policy of obtaining 

an independent valuation for available for 

sale assets at least every two years to at 

least every three years. The independent 

valuations are used to assist Directors 

in assessing the fair value of available 

for sale assets.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other 

receivables that have fixed or 

determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market are 

classified as loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables are initially 

measured at fair value, net of transaction 

costs. Loans and receivables are 

subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method 

less impairment.

Investments in associates
Subsequent to initial recognition, 

investments in associates are accounted 

for under the equity method in the 

financial statements.
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements of the 
Victoria Racing Club Limited for the year ended 31 July 2012 continued

Financial Statements
continued

(g) Impairment of tangible and 
intangible assets excluding goodwill
At the end of each reporting period, 

the Club reviews the carrying amounts 

of its tangible and intangible assets 

to determine whether there is any 

indication that those assets have suffered 

an impairment loss. If any such indication 

exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 

is estimated in order to determine the 

extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

Where it is not possible to estimate the 

recoverable amount of an individual 

asset, the Club estimates the recoverable 

amount of the cash-generating unit 

to which the asset belongs. 

Intangible assets with indefinite 

useful lives and intangible assets 

not yet available for use are tested 

for impairment at least annually, 

and whenever there is an indication 

that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair 

value less costs to sell and value in use. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated 

future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using the pre-tax discount 

rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money 

and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset 

(or cash-generating unit) is estimated 

to be less than its carrying amount, 

the carrying amount of the asset 

(cash-generating unit) is reduced to 

its recoverable amount. An impairment 

loss is recognised immediately in profit 

or loss, unless the relevant asset is 

carried at a revalued amount, in which 

case the impairment loss is treated 

as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently 

reverses, the carrying amount of the asset 

(cash-generating unit) is increased to the 

revised estimate of its recoverable amount, 

but so that the increased carrying amount 

does not exceed the carrying amount 

that would have been determined had 

no impairment loss been recognised for 

the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior 

years. A reversal of an impairment loss 

is recognised in profit or loss immediately, 

unless the relevant asset is carried 

at a revalued amount, in which case 

the impairment loss is treated as 

a revaluation increase.

(h) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable 

to the acquisition, construction or 

production of qualifying assets, which are 

assets that necessarily take a substantial 

period of time to get ready for their 

intended use or sale, are added to the 

cost of those assets, until such time 

as the assets are substantially ready for 

their intended use or sale. Investment 

income earned on the temporary 

investment of specific borrowings 

pending their expenditure on qualifying 

assets is deducted from the borrowing 

costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised 

in profit or loss in the period in which 

they are incurred.

(i) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the 

Club has a present obligation (legal 

or constructive) as a result of a past 

event, it is probable that the Club will 

be required to settle the obligation 

and a reliable estimate can be made 

of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision 

is the best estimate of the consideration 

required to settle the present obligation 

at the end of the reporting period, 

taking into account the risks and 

uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 

Where a provision is measured using the 

cash flows estimated to settle the present 

obligation, its carrying amount is the 

present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic 

benefits required to settle a provision 

are expected to be recovered from 

a third party, a receivable is recognised 

as an asset if it is virtually certain that 

reimbursement will be received and 

the amount of the receivable can 

be measured reliably.

(j) Employee benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits 

accruing to employees in respect of 

wages and salaries, annual leave and 

long service leave when it is probable 

that settlement will be required and they 

are capable of being measured reliably.

Liabilities recognised in respect of 

short-term employee benefits, are 

measured at their nominal values 

using the remuneration rate expected 

to apply at the time of settlement.

Liabilities recognised in respect of 

long-term employee benefits are measured 

as the present value of the estimated 

future cash outflows to be made by the 

Club in respect of services provided 

by employees up to reporting date.
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(l) Thoroughbred Racing 
Industry distributions
The Club received distributions 

of $28.0 million (2011: $27.8 million), 

and these represent the amount received 

and receivable in respect of the year ended 

31 July 2012, net of industry adjustments. 

Included in this total is the amount 

of $2.1 million (2011: $2.1 million), 

representing contributions made 

to the Club by Racing Victoria Limited 

to fund, in part, capital developments 

at Flemington racecourse.

(m) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are 

recognised net of the amount of Goods 

and Services Tax (GST), except:

(i) where the amount of GST incurred 

is not recoverable from the taxation 

authority, it is recognised as part 

of the cost of acquisition of an asset 

or as part of an item of expense; or

(ii) for receivables and payables that 

are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable 

from or payable to the taxation 

authority is included as part 

of receivables or payables.

(n) Derivative financial instruments
The Club currently does not hold any 

interest rate swap to manage its exposure 

to interest rate risk. In relation to the prior 

period when such an interest rate swap 

was in place, the accounting policy is 

as follows.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair 

value at the date a derivative contract 

is entered into and are subsequently 

remeasured to their fair value at each 

reporting date. The resulting gain or loss 

is recognised in profit or loss immediately 

unless the derivative is designated and 

effective as a hedging instrument, in which 

event, the timing of the recognition 

in profit or loss depends on the nature 

of the hedge relationship.

The Club designated the interest rate 

swap as a hedge of highly probable 

forecast transactions (cash flow hedge).

The fair value of a hedging derivative 

is presented as a non-current asset or 

a non-current liability if the remaining 

maturity of the instrument is more than 

12 months and it is not expected to be 

realised or settled within 12 months.

(o) Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately 

are included under Property, plant 

and equipment and are carried at cost 

less accumulated amortisation and 

impairment. Amortisation is charged 

on a straight line basis over their 

estimated useful lives. The estimated 

useful life and amortisation method 

is reviewed at the end of each annual 

reporting period, with any changes 

in these accounting estimates being 

accounted for on a prospective basis.

(p) Government grants
Government grants are not recognised 

until there is a reasonable assurance that 

the Club will comply with the conditions 

attaching to them and that the grants 

will be received.

4. Critical accounting judgements and 
key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Club’s 

accounting policies, which are described 

in Note 3, management is required 

to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions about carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily apparent from other sources. 

The estimates and associated assumptions 

are based on historical experience and 

other factors that are considered to be 

relevant. Actual results may differ from 

these estimates.

The estimates and underlying 

assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 

basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the 

estimate is revised if the revision affects 

only that period or in the period of the 

revision and future periods if the revision 

affects both current and future periods.

Management uses their judgement 

in selecting the most appropriate 

valuation technique in deriving fair 

value. For available for sale financial 

assets, as noted in Note 11, a combination 

of commonly used valuation techniques 

are applied.

Defined benefit plans
For defined benefit superannuation 

plans, the cost of providing benefits 

is determined using the Projected Unit 

Credit Method, with actuarial valuations 

being carried out at the end of each 

reporting period. Actuarial gains and 

losses are recognised in full directly 

in retained earnings in the period in 

which they occur, and are presented 

in Other Comprehensive Income.

Past service cost is recognised immediately 

to the extent that the benefits are already 

vested, and otherwise is amortised 

on a straight line basis over the average 

period until the benefits become vested.

The defined benefit obligation recognised 

in the statement of financial position 

represents the present value of the 

defined benefit obligation, adjusted 

for unrecognised past service cost, 

net of the fair value of the plan assets.

(k) Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value 

of the consideration received or receivable 

for sale of goods and services.

Sale of goods and services
Revenue from the sale of goods and 

services is recognised when all of the 

following conditions are satisfied:

• The Club has transferred to the buyer 

the significant risks and rewards 

of ownership of the goods or service

• The Club retains neither continuing 

managerial involvement to the degree 

usually associated with ownership nor 

effective control over the goods sold 

or service provided

• The amount of revenue can 

be measured reliably

• It is probable that the economic 

benefits associated with the 

transaction will flow to the entity

• The costs incurred or to be incurred 

in respect of the transaction can 

be measured reliably.

Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised when 

it is probable that the economic benefits 

will flow to the Club and that the amount 

of revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest revenue is accrued on a time 

basis, by reference to the principal 

outstanding and at the effective interest 

rate applicable, which is the rate that 

exactly discounts estimated future cash 

receipts through the expected life of the 

financial asset to that asset’s net carrying 

amount on initial recognition.
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5. Retained earnings  2012 2011
  $000 $000

Balance at 1 August  105,051 103,702

Actuarial (loss)/gain on defined benefit plan  (2,173) (826)

Net profit  2,358 2,175

Balance at 31 July  105,236 105,051

6. Reserves  2012 2011
  $000 $000

Investment revaluation  4,297 4,324

Properties revaluation  53,039 52,263

Cash flow hedging reserve  – (3)

Balance at 31 July  57,336 56,584

investment revaluation reserve   

Balance at 1 August  4,324 4,774

Valuation loss recognised  (27) (450)

Balance at 31 July  4,297 4,324

The investment revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of available for sale 

financial assets. Where a revalued financial asset is sold, that portion of the reserve 

which relates to that financial asset, and is effectively realised, is recognised in profit 

or loss. Where a revalued financial asset is impaired, that portion of the reserve which 

relates to that financial asset is recognised in profit or loss. 

properties revaluation reserve   

Balance at 1 August  52,263 52,250

Revaluation increments/(decrements)  776 13

Balance at 31 July  53,039 52,263

The properties revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of land. Where revalued 

land is sold, that portion of the properties revaluation reserve which relates to that 

asset, and is effectively realised, is transferred directly to retained earnings.

cash flow hedging reserve   

Balance at 1 August – interest rate swap  (3) (251)

Gain recognised on cash flow hedges  3 253

Transferred to profit or loss – Interest (expense)  – (5)

Balance at 31 July  – (3)

The cash flow hedging reserve represents the cumulative portion of gains and losses 

on hedging instruments deemed effective in cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred 

gain or loss on the hedge is recognised in profit or loss when the hedged transaction 

impacts the profit or loss.

7. Income tax
The Club is exempt from income tax under section 50–45SS9.1(a) of the Income 

Tax Assessment Act 1997 (as amended).

8. Finance costs  2012 2011
  $000 $000

Interest on commercial bills  971 1,162

Interest on obligations under finance lease  2 5

Less amounts included in the cost of qualifying assets  (101) (227)

  872 940

Fair value (profit) on interest rate swap designated 

as a cash flow hedge transferred from equity  – (5)

Total  872 935
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9. Trade and other receivables 
  2012 2011
current  $000 $000

Wagering distribution  569 344

TVN rights fees  2,317 2,310

TVN loan  500 500

Tabaret receivables  188 187

Trade receivables (i)  5,866 4,995

Australian Genetics Testing  388 –

Other receivables  2,134 1,407

Subtotal  11,962 9,743

non-current   

Australian Genetics Testing  – 388

3UZ Sport 927  33 –

Total  11,995 10,131

(i) The average credit period on sales of goods and services is 30 days. Penalty interest is charged 
on outstanding receivables where applicable.

10. Investments accounted for using the equity method  2012 2011
  $000 $000
Investments in associates  158 170

Investments in jointly controlled entities  227 111

  385 281

 principal country of 2012 2011
name of entity activity incorporation % %

Investments in associates

 Distribution of betting   
Australian Prices Network price fluctuations Australia 16.7 16.7

Thoroughbred Racing Production of oncourse

Production (Vic) Pty Ltd racing vision Australia 25.0 25.0

Jointly controlled entity    

Australian Stud Book Maintenance of breeding register Australia 50.0 50.0

Australian Genetics 

Testing Pty Ltd DNA screening of research animals Australia 50.0 50.0

  2012 2011
  $000 $000
summarised financial information of associates   

Share of associates’ profit  138 104

summarised financial information of jointly controlled entities   

Share of jointly controlled entities profit  116 153

  254 257
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11. Other financial assets  2012 2011
  $000 $000
available for sale investments at fair value   

Non-current   

ThoroughVisioN Pty Ltd (i)  5,625 5,625

3UZ Sport 927 (ii)  1,074 1,101

  6,699 6,726

Investments carried at amortised cost   

Non-current   

Bank term deposits  55 55

  6,754 6,781

(i) ThoroughVisioN Pty Ltd 
At 31 July 2012, the Club held a 12.5% (2011: 12.5%) shareholding in ThoroughVisioN Pty Ltd (TVN). 
An independent valuation was obtained to provide the Directors with a basis for assessing the fair 
value at 31 July 2010. Based on all relevant and known financial information and with the utilisation 
of a discounted cash flow earnings model, the Club has valued its 12.5% shareholding at $5.625 million 
(2011: $5.625 million).

(ii) 3UZ Sport 927 
At 31 July 2012, the Club held a 14.23% (2011: 14.23%) shareholding in 3UZ Sport 927. An independent 
valuation was obtained to provide the Directors with a basis for assessing the fair value at 31 July 
2010. Based on a combination of factors, which included market values of assets and licences held 
and analysis of direct and indirect benefits accruing to the Racing Industry as a result of ownership 
of the radio station, the Club has valued its 14.23% shareholding at $1.074 million (2011: $1.101 million).
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12. Property, plant and equipment
     assets 
 freehold construc- buildings plant and under 
 land at tion w.i.p. and infra- equipment finance 
 fair value at cost structure at cost lease total
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Gross carrying amount      

Balance at 1 August 2010 58,944 4,441 120,169 124,115 197 307,866

Additions – 2,635 1,739 5,259 – 9,633

Transfers – (4,353) 2,612 1,741 – –

Net revaluation decrements 13 – – – – 13

Impairment – – – – – –

Disposals – – – (2,046) – (2,046)

Balance at 31 July 2011 58,957 2,723 124,520 129,069 197 315,466

Additions – 1,942 392 2,670 – 5,004

Transfers – (2,645) – 2,396 – (249)

Net revaluation increments 776 – – – – 776

Impairment – – – – – –

Disposals – – – (1,938) (41) (1,979)

Balance at 31 July 2012 59,733 2,020 124,912 132,197 156 319,018

Accumulated depreciation and impairment     

Balance at 1 August 2010 – – 57,998 61,618 120 119,736

Depreciation expense – – 3,578 5,494 42 9,114

Impairment – – – – – –

Disposals – – – (2,042) – (2,042)

Balance at 31 July 2011 – – 61,576 65,070 162 126,808

Depreciation expense – – 3,007 5,561 31 8,599

Disposals – – – (1,927) (41) (1,968)

Balance at 31 July 2012 – – 64,583 68,704 152 133,439

Net book value      

As at 31 July 2011 58,957 2,723 62,944 63,999 35 188,658

As at 31 July 2012 59,733 2,020 60,329 63,493 4 185,579

Freehold land carried at fair value
An independent valuation of the Club’s freehold land was performed by PP&E Valuations 

to determine the fair value of the land. The valuation conforms to Australian Valuation 

Standards, was determined by reference to similar sales of real estate in the local and 

surrounding areas and with regard to the size, shape and topography of the individual 

parcels of land. The effective date of the valuation is 31 July 2012 (2011: 31 July 2011).
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13. Trade and other payables  2012 2011
  $000 $000
Current   

Race meeting payables  99 414

Payables for assets  153 285

Trade payables (i)  2,073 3,629

Other payables  4,666 5,208

Racecourse maintenance payables  454 336

  7,445 9,872

(i) The average credit period on purchases is 30 days. No interest is charged on trade payables.

14. Borrowings  2012 2011
  $000 $000
unsecured – at amortised cost   

Current   

Finance lease liabilities (i)  5 37

Insurance premium funding  631 –

Bank overdraft  – 554

Loan (ii)  1,000 –

  1,636 591

Non-current   

Finance lease liabilities (i)  – 5

Commercial bills (iii)  9,000 14,500

Loan (ii)  – 1,000

Subtotal  9,000 15,505

Total  10,636 16,097

(i) Secured by assets leased.
(ii) Repaid on 14 August 2012.
(iii) The Club’s commercial bill facility expires on 31 August 2013.

15. Provisions  2012 2011
  $000 $000
Current   

Employee benefits  1,007 1,093

Non-current   

Defined Benefit Plan  3,494 1,998

Employee benefits  2,761 2,729

  7,262 5,820

The employee benefits expense for the year was $0.5 million (2011: $0.5 million).

The expense has been included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 

in expenditure for Administration and Racecourse Maintenance.

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements of the 
Victoria Racing Club Limited for the year ended 31 July 2012 continued

Financial Statements
continued
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16. Leases
Finance leases
Leasing arrangements relate to the purchase of motor vehicles and equipment with lease 

terms of up to four years remaining. At the conclusion of the term and final payment, 

full ownership is transferred to the Club.

  present value of
 minimum future minimum future
 lease payments lease payments

 2012 2011 2012 2011
finance lease liabilities $000 $000 $000 $000
– not later than 1 year 5 39 5 37

–  later than 1 year and not later than 5 years – 5 – 5

Included in the financial statements as: (Note 15)   

– Current borrowings    5 37

– Non-current borrowings    – 5

    5 42

Minimum future lease payments less the aggregate of all lease payments and any 

guaranteed residual.

Operating leases
Leasing arrangements relate to the rental of motor vehicles with lease terms of between 

3 to 5 years. On conclusion of the term, there are no options to extend or purchase.

  2012 2011
  $000 $000
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments   

No longer than 1 year  198 189

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years  51 225

  249 414

17. Defined benefit superannuation plan
A significant number of employees of the Club are members of the Victorian Racing 

Industry Superannuation Fund (the sub-plan) of AMP Signature Super. The sub-plan 

has a combination of defined benefit and accumulation membership. The following 

information relates to the defined benefit membership. The defined benefit segment 

of the sub-plan is closed to new members.

The defined benefit members are entitled to retirement benefits based on a multiple 

of their deemed final salary upon attainment of a retirement age of 60. No other 

post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees.

The defined benefit superannuation segment is a funded segment of the sub-plan. 

The net deficit determined in the sub-plan’s most recent financial report, for the year 

ended 31 July 2012, was $3.494 million (2011: $1.998 million).

The Club has a legal liability to make up a deficit in the defined benefit segment 

of the sub-plan, but no direct legal right to withdraw any surplus from the sub-plan.

  2012 2011
  % %
key assumptions used for the purpose of the actuarial 
valuation were as follows (expressed as weighted averages)   

Discount rate gross of tax  3.0 4.8

Discount rate net of tax  2.6 4.1

Expected return on plan assets  7.0 7.0

Expected rate of salary increase  4.5 4.5
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17. Defined benefit superannuation plans continued
Amounts recognised in profit or loss in respect of the defined benefit plan are as follows:

  2012 2011
  $000 $000
Expense recognised in the consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  115 234

Actuarial losses incurred during the year  2,173 826

Cumulative actuarial losses  2,918 745

The amount included in the Statement of Financial Position arising from 

the Club’s obligations in respect of its defined benefit sub-plan is as follows: 

Present value of defined benefit obligation at end of year  12,600 12,811

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  (9,106) (10,813)

Net liability arising from defined benefit  3,494 1,998

Movements in the present value of the plan assets in the current period were as follows:  

Opening fair value of plan assets  10,813 9,360

Employer contributions  791 1,209

Member contributions  127 162

Benefits paid  (3,128) (317)

Other  503 398

Closing fair value of plan assets  9,106 10,813

The analysis of the plan assets and the expected rate of return at the Statement 

of Financial Position date are as follows:

  fair value of
 expected return plan assets

 2012 2011 2012 2011
 % % $000 $000

Equity instruments 7.75 7.75 5,464 6,434

Debt instruments 5.5 5.5 2,322 2,757

Property 7.0 7.0 501 595

Other 7.0 7.0 819 1,207

Weighted average expected return 7.0 7.0 9,106 10,813

The actual return on plan assets was $0.50 million (2011: $0.40 million).

18. Notes to the statement of cash flows  2012 2011
  $000 $000
(a) reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents  

Cash at Bank  3,499 5,513

Bank overdraft  – (554)

  3,499 4,959

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements of the 
Victoria Racing Club Limited for the year ended 31 July 2012 continued

Financial Statements
continued
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18. Notes to the statement of cash flows continued
(b) financing facilities   

Unsecured commercial bill facility   

Amount used  9,000 14,500

Amount unused  23,500 18,000

  32,500 32,500

Unsecured bank overdraft facility   

Amount used  – –

Amount unused  2,000 2,000

  2,000 2,000

Unsecured leasing facility  

Amount used  633 278

Amount unused  667 1,022

  1,300 1,300

(c) reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year  2,358 2,175

Depreciation and amortisation expense  8,599 9,115

Capitalised interest payments on qualifying assets  (101) –

Share of profits in associated entities not received as dividends or distributions  (104) (207)

Gain on disposal of fixed assets  (38) (34)

Non-cash fair value (gain) on interest rate swap  – (5)

Non-cash movements in defined benefit superannuation expense  (676) (976)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities   

Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables  (2,275) 849

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories  84 (61)

(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables  (2,427) 546

(Decrease)/Increase in fees in advance  1,980 (3,379)

Increase in employee benefit provisions  1,442 99

Net operating cash flow  8,842 8,121

19. Auditors’ remuneration  2012 2011
  $ $
Auditors of Victoria Racing Club Limited  

– Audit of the financial report  110,500 114,500

– Other services  – –

20. Key management personnel compensation
The key management personnel of the Club include the Chief Executive Officer along 

with the six direct reports (2011: 11) and members of the Board. The compensation 

of the key management personnel is set out below and includes remuneration and 

allowances, payments for accrued annual and long service leave and post employment 

benefits in the form of superannuation. Directors of the Board are not remunerated 

by the Club; however, do receive certain reimbursements and travel allowances for costs 

incurred while fulfilling their role as a Director.
  2012 2011
  $ $
  2,929,233 3,585,927



56  Victoria Racing Club Annual Report 2012

Financial Statements
continued

21. Capital commitments
The Club has capital commitments 

for capital expenditure on qualifying 

assets at 31 July 2012 of $4.2 million 

(2011: $0.09 million).

22. Contingent liabilities
The Club has guaranteed the obligations 

of Thoroughbred Racing Productions (Vic) 

Pty Ltd in respect of loans provided 

by Australia and New Zealand Banking 

Group for the amount not exceeding 

$2.39 million (2011: $2.79 million).

23. Related parties
The following parties are considered 

to be related parties to the Club:

Members of the Board who held office 

in the year ended 31 July 2012 (as detailed 

on pages 10 to 11 of this Report).

All Members of the Board act 

in an honorary capacity and receive no 

remuneration for their services; however, 

do receive certain reimbursements and 

compensation for costs incurred while 

fulfilling their role as a Director. Certain 

Members of the Board participate in the 

Thoroughbred Racing Industry via means 

of ownership of racehorses either 

individually or through related entities. 

This involvement is on terms and 

conditions no more favourable than 

other participants in the Thoroughbred 

Racing Industry.

The Club paid Directors and Officers’ 

Liability Insurance on behalf of the 

Board and Officers of the Club.

The Club indemnifies each officer 

of the Club against any liability that 

may be instituted against them or any 

of them in the exercise of their office 

or performance of their duties.

The Club has not otherwise, during 

or since the financial year, indemnified 

or agreed to indemnify an officer 

or auditor of the Club or any related 

organisation against liability incurred 

as such an officer or auditor.

All other material transactions and 

balances with related parties have 

been disclosed in this Report.

24. Subsequent events
There has not been any matter 

or circumstance occurring subsequent 

to the end of the financial year that has 

significantly affected, or may significantly 

affect, the operations of the Club, the 

results of those operations, or the state of 

affairs of the Club in future financial years.

Directors’ Declaration

The Directors declare that:

(a) In the Directors’ opinion, there are 

reasonable grounds to believe that 

the Club will be able to pay its debts 

as and when they become due 

and payable.

(b) In the Directors’ opinion, the 

attached financial statements and 

notes thereto are in accordance with 

the Corporations Act 2001, including 

compliance with Accounting Standards 

and giving a true and fair view of the 

financial position and performance 

of the Club.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to Section 295 (5) 

of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

T M Poole Director

D G Monteith Chief Executive

Melbourne, 26 October 2012

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements of the 
Victoria Racing Club Limited for the year ended 31 July 2012 continued
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